
 
 
 

SCRUTINY : GOVERNANCE, 
PERFORMANCE, BUSINESS CHANGE AND 

CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

4.00 pm TUESDAY, 25TH FEBRUARY, 2020 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER 
 

A Pre-Meeting will take place in Conference Room 1 at 3.30 pm.   
This Meeting is for Committee Members only  

 
 

Please note that today’s Meeting will be recorded.  
  

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used 
for training purposes by the Democratic Services Department. 

 
The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber 

and using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being 
filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined 

above.   

 

 
This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

 

3. Human Resources Report   

 To consider report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

5 - 18 

4. Best Start to Life   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 
 

19 - 38 

5. Work Programme 2019-20   

 To consider the attached report 
 

39 - 50 

6. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions  

 

7. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting   

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

 

8. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



  
COMPOSITION: Councillors:  T Skinner (Chair) 

                     G Lewis (Vice-Chair) 
  
 Councillors:   J Amos, H R Jones, D Sammon, 

W R Smith and C T Jones 
 
Co-optees:    J Beard and C Payne 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 

 

 
 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Human Resources Report  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 

1.1  This report provides an update following the Committee in October 2019.  The report 
includes updates on areas of specific reference. 

 
1.2 Governance Scrutiny Members requested on the 15th October 2019 that a follow up 

report be presented to them considering a number of discrete areas namely  
 
   Single Points of Dependency 

   Staff Capability 

   Work related stress and staff sickness 

   The Redundancy Process 

   The impact of the VR/VER process which concluded on the 1st April 2019 

   Agency Workers     

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 That Scrutiny Committee notes the content of the report and progress made to date. 
 
2.2 That the Scrutiny Committee identifies any further information they would like to 

receive. 
 
 
 
 
 

Date Written 07th February 2020 

Report Author Fran Donnelly/Hannah Brown and 
Paul Williams 

Service Area Chief Executive 

Committee Date 25th February 2020 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Scrutiny has asked for an update on the following areas: 
 
3.1.1 Single Points of Dependency  
 

A single point of dependency (SPOD) is part of a system or person that, if it fails, will 
stop the entire system or process from working. SPODs within this report refer to the 
people who may be considered the only person within the Council who carries out an 
element of their role or process.  There is high reliability on one person to carry out a 
task that is business critical. 

 
When key people are identified it allows you to think about what would happen if they 
we not able to carry out their role.  

 
Key areas for consideration from HR 

 

 What is the unique knowledge, skill or function you would have to replace? 

 What would be the impact on the team, atmosphere, product, customers? 

 What would be the short-term and long-term impact? 

 What would be the impact on daily operations? 

 What would be the impact on the potential growth of the team? 
 

When considering these questions, thought should be given to identify people who 
are able to take over that particular knowledge, skill or function. If there are no 
employees available to take over this, then this becomes a high risk of failure for that 
service area. 

 
Single Points of Dependency need to be identified by the managers of departments 
together with the Organisational Development Manager. 

 
During the VR/VER process; a number of SPODS were identified through 
discussions with the Skills Questionnaires.  This allowed a clear process for 
individuals to identify if they were the only member of the team carrying out a 
particular function or task.  This was discussed with Corporate Management Team 
(CMT) using the gateway process that resulted in allowing staff to leave on VR/VER, 
if they successfully passed through the gateway. 

 
Some staff identified as SPODs. 

Highways – 3 

Revenues and Benefits – 1 

Legal – 1 

ALN Education – 1 

Environmental Health - 1 

 

SPODs will also be identified during the capacity exercise that is currently being 
undertaken by Corporate Management team. 
 

Page 6



Following this exercise, HR will work with departments to identify workforce planning 
to overcome some of these SPODs.  This can include further recruitment, 
succession planning options and training opportunities for individuals and teams. 
Meetings will be held with departmental managers to identify workforce plans. 
 
Capacity Exercise 

 

Corporate Management Team considered how an approach could be undertaken in 
order to complete a whole organisation capacity mapping exercise in November 
2019. The capacity mapping session then took place on Friday 29th of November 
with the Wales Audit Office in attendance. Eighteen areas that were identified by 
CMT have been run through the capacity process the last workshop session finished 
last Thursday the 30th January 2020. This has been a significant piece of work given 
the timescales involved. This is only phase 1 of the corporate exercise. 

 
The areas considered were: 
 
Environmental Health Customer Services Corporate Communications 

Social Services – Adults Housing Business Systems (WCCIS) 

Social Services – Safeguarding Education Social Services – Children’s 

Neighbourhood Services – Engineering Revenues Information Governance 

Neighbourhood Services - Property 
Services / Project Management 

Insurance Equalities and Risk 

Gypsy Traveller Provision Legal Democratic Services 

 
Work is now underway to look at what is required in order to mitigate any identified 
risks in those areas that have been reviewed. As there are limited investment monies 
available, areas will need to be prioritised and Managers/Heads of Services 
expectations managed accordingly.  It has been confirmed that the total cost for 
addressing the capacity assessment will not be available in readiness for the Council 
Tax setting by 4th March 2020.  Any re-investment in the services has to come from 
the unallocated funds that the Chief Finance Offer has highlighted, currently outlined 
to be £764k. However, as the Trade Unions have rejected the initial Employers offer 
of a 2% pay award the unallocated funds money available is likely to diminish further.  

 
3.1.2 Staff Capability 
 

Capability Process 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is committed to providing high standards of 
service to its’ service users. It is recognised that the capability and commitment of its 
staff is fundamental to the achievement of this goal. In the vast majority of cases, 
employees’ meet and exceed the performance requirements of their roles. However, 
in some circumstances, individuals may experience difficulties in demonstrating the 
levels of competence required to perform their job effectively. 

 
There is a Capability Policy which details what is capability and what the difference is 
between capability and conduct.  The policy also details the stages involved in the 
process.   
 
Currently there is one person on capability within the schools and no employees are 
on capability within the Council. Page 7



The Capability process can only be followed if the performance management of the 
individual has been followed and there is evidence the individual has been supported 
to make improvements with a detailed improvement plan. 
 
Stage one of the capability procedure will be engaged when: 

 

 The manager has initiated a support plan: however; targets have not been met 
and level of performance remains unsatisfactory. 

 Where the manager is able to evidence that a support plan has been provided to 
the member of staff within the last 12 months; which has led to improvement, 
however performance has subsequently deteriorated to a significant and 
sustained level. 

 
The manager should agree an action plan with the member of staff to resolve the 
issues identified.  

 
Possible outcomes at the end of the stage one review period are: 

 Performance has improved and the required standard achieved, therefore no 
further action will be necessary.   

 There is evidence of improvement however it is not sufficient to suspend the 
process – the manager may decide to extend stage one for a further period;   

 In cases where performance has not sufficiently improved the manager will 
progress to stage two of the procedure.   

 
Stage two before an action plan will be devised with targets set which would need to 
be met at the end of the review period. 
 
At the end of the agreed timescale a formal meeting will be held to review the targets 
in the action plan and assess whether the criteria for success has been achieved. 
Possible outcomes from the meeting will be: 

 

 Performance has improved and the required standard achieved therefore no 
further action will be necessary; 

 If some improvement has been made, the manager may decide to extend the 
review period and may further develop the individual’s action plan to address the 
performance issue; and 

 In cases where performance has not improved, or there is some improvement but 
the required standard has not been achieved, or sustained the case is to be 
referred to a formal hearing which may result in the termination of their contract 
on grounds of capability with the required period of notice. 

 
Stage three is the hearing stage. Should the follow up review indicate that 
performance has not improved; a Senior Nominated Officer or appropriate level of 
management will at this stage conduct a hearing.  This would usually be a Head of 
Service or Senior Management level that has not had any prior involvement with the 
case. 

 
The hearing will also take place if an employee is unable to return to work due to ill 
health and a phased return to work / workplace adjustments and alternative duties 

Page 8



have been considered and not been successful / are not appropriate / not acceptable 
to the Employee.   

 
 The hearing will consider: 

 Dismissing the case to date in its entirety i.e. no evidence of poor performance is 
found, the problem is the manager’s fault e.g. lack of clarity been given; 

 Adjusting the previous management decision e.g. extending stage two, referring 
to occupational health for ill health issues; 

 Whether alternative employment can be offered which is more suitable to the 
employee’s capabilities; and 

 Dismissal of the employee for lack of capability. 
 

If alternative employment has been located within their service area then the employee 
will be given a period of five-working days to consider the offer and to reply.  If the role is 
as part of the redeployment pool (due to the employee agreeing to be placed there due 
to capability issues), the normal process will be followed and the employee given an 
opportunity to undertake a four-week trial- but no payment protection will be offered.  

 
If after suitable alternative role(s) have been offered and the employee either refuses 
them or they are not suitable, the employee’s contract of employment will be terminated 
on the grounds of the employee’s lack of capability.  Contractual or statutory notice must 
be given. The four-week trail of redeployment will be part of the employees notice period 
if they do not want the role or the manager recruiting has evidence that they are not 
suitable for the new role. 
 
The Capability Policy will be going to Council for approval in March along with a number 
of other polices for the Council that require updating. The policy has been reviewed by 
ACAS; and ACAS have confirmed that they have no concerns with the draft policy that 
the Council propose to adopt in March.  The Trade Unions have also been consulted on 
the policy. 
 
Performance management is a fundamental part of a manager/leader’s role and 
ensures that their employees are developed, engaged and inspired, and also meeting 
their responsibilities.  Regular performance discussions allows a manager to get to know 
their employees and to encourage and, if necessary, improve performance.  
 
It is recommended that managers align an individual’s goals with the organisation’s 
overall objectives and clearly communicate this link to employees. This ensures that 
each team member can see how they are contributing to the Council’s success, 
contributing to job satisfaction and engagement.  
 
Performance management therefore clearly feeds into other critical elements of the 
Organisational Development strategy, such as employee engagement. It is a valuable 
opportunity for staff members to voice ideas, concerns or feedback.  
 
Managing staff performance will have the result that the Council’s performance itself 
improves. This has positive effects in relation to budget management for the long-term.  
 
It is critical that the Corporate team lead the way in performance management and 
encourage all managers to view the process as a central feature of their role.  

Page 9



In order to embed the Performance Management process, having an online system 
would allow better control over who was following the process.  Paper-based appraisal 
processes are often a once or twice-a-year affair, with objectives locked in a draw and 
never looked at or updated between reviews!  
 
An online performance management system, if set up well, can encourage employees 
and managers to review performance progress regularly.  This ensures that objectives 
are updated to stay relevant throughout the year.  This encourages more conversation 
between employee and Manager. 
 
Better quality data.  Getting meaningful performance data from paper-based appraisal 
forms is both difficult and time consuming. For example, compiling training needs across 
a company typically involves reading through every employee’s personal development 
plan and identifying common needs, which can take days to complete. A good online 
system will produce data like dashboards at the touch of a button that will enable 
managers to have better workforce data. 
 
Streamlining the process. A paper-based process requires physical forms to be passed 
around the organisation between employees, managers and HR for completion and 
signature. Not only is this laborious for staff, trying to keep track of who is at what stage 
of the process is nigh-on impossible. An online system will offer automated workflows 
and approvals, making the process simpler and quicker for employees and managers to 
complete.  
 
‘Generation Y’ expect everything to be online. The ‘internet generation’, now making up 
an increasing percentage of the workforce, typically manage their lives online. 
Organisations wishing to present themselves as an employer of choice to these 
individuals will struggle if they are still using paper-based forms, or even Word 
documents, to manage their processes. 
 

3.1.3 Work related Stress and Staff Sickness 
 

Over the past 2 years long-term sickness statistics have increased as follows (figures 
are based on FTE’s): 

 

2016/17  5.5%  
2017/18  7.8%  
2018/19  8.7%  

 
Occupational Sickness Pay cost the Council the following:  

 

2015/16  £498,571.37 
2016/17  £641,913.66 
2017/18  £731,492.85  
2018/19  £786,663.08    

 
These costs are just for staff salaries and do not include agency staff covering for staff 
while they were on sickness absence which is required in front line services e.g. waste, 
care homes etc.  

 
 
 

Page 10



Occupational Sickness Costs front-line services: 
 

    Waste   Care homes 
2015/16  £26,374.24  £49,547.77 
2016/17  £69,586.42  £48,364.79 
2017/18  £49,236.41  £70.531.40 
2018/19  £46,310.68  £59,223.61 

  
These front line services costs can be doubled as staff on sickness absence have to 
be covered by an agency member of staff for the service to continue to function. 

 
Work is underway to update the sickness categories on the HR database.  Currently 
there is no categorisation of work related stress and non-work related stress.  This 
change is being communicated to managers this month and further analysis will then 
be able to take place of the data. However it seems from dealing with Sickness 
absence of staff on a daily basis, the majority of stress related illness is not work 
related, and a lot of the time it is in relation to illness of family members (often aging 
parents), this cannot be quantify for the reasons listed above. 
 
HR has assisted with the management of attendance in accordance with the 
sickness absence policy. Where an employee has been absent from work for 2/3 
months their continued employment is reviewed to ascertain whether an employee is 
likely to recover and return to work.  If it is unlikely that an employee will be fit to 
return to their original post then employment options are discussed with the 
employee to ensure they are not on sickness absence for an 
unforeseeable/unreasonable length of time.  
 
A proposal is currently being developed in order to bring the Occupational Health 
provision back in house. A proactive approach to workplace health involving the 
whole workforce can be implemented; innovative partnerships between the NHS, 
local businesses, charities with union support, covering issues like smoking 
cessation, stress and exercise, and aiming to develop a sustainable culture of 
healthy workplaces can be established. 
 
Proactive management of ill-health and chronic conditions in the workplace is proven 
to help prevent long-term job loss. This includes employers seeking and acting on 
OH advice. Good quality OH support has the potential to improve health and work 
outcomes, by preventing work-related illness and unnecessary sickness absence, 
and supporting those with health conditions to remain in work. 
 
The table below provides the details and outcomes of the meetings undertaken in 
accordance with the sickness absence process in the last year. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



LONG TERM SICKNESS MEETINGS AND OUTCOMES 2019 
 

Month No. of  
Meetings 

Mutual 
Agreement to 
Termination of 

Contract 

Permanent Ill 
Health 

Retirements 

Compromise 
due to 

sickness 

January 8    

February 9    

March 6 1 1  

April 12 2   

May 14   2 

June 5 4  1 

July 10 1 1  

August 7    

September 7 1   

October  9 2  1 

November 14 2   

December  7 2   

 
Total 

 
98 

 
15 
 
 

 
2 

 
4 

 

In order to assist staff with stress the 
Council has provided a number of 
Mindfulness Training session delivered by 
Working Skills for Adults. Where staff have 
approached their manager with stress 
concerns or where staff have self-identified 
with stress concerns a number of Stress 
Control Workshops run by Valleys Steps 
have been offered to all staff.  

The wellbeing of all employees is important 
to the Council and an online resource is 
available free of charge, offering immediate 
information, answers and advice to a range 

Page 12



of workplace and personal issues. The offer a telephone information and advice 
service should members of staff wish to speak to an individual instead of just source 
information online. This service is run by ‘Care First’ who provide telephone 
information and advice on a range of issues 24 hours, 7 days a week. A screen 
shoot of the information provided by the service is provided. 

 3.1.4 Compulsory Redundancy Process 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is committed to maintaining and enhancing 
the efficiency of its services, and, in the process, safeguarding the current and future 
employment of employees.  There may however be occasions when changes in 
funding provision, the demand for services, organisational requirements or 
technological developments impact on staffing requirements.  
 
The Redundancy Policy outlines the approach to be adopted in cases of potential 
redundancies and shall be applied with due regard to legislative provisions relating to 
redundancy.  It should be read in conjunction with the Redeployment Policy and 
Procedure.    

 
The Council will always try to avoid the need for compulsory redundancies but 
sometimes these may be necessary.  Where redundancy is inevitable the Council 
will handle the matter in the most fair, consistent and sympathetic manner possible in 
order to minimise any hardship that may be suffered by the employee(s) concerned. 

 
Failing to reduce the numbers through voluntary means, the responsible manager, 
with advice from an HR Adviser, will apply the objective selection criteria as agreed 
by the Council during meaningful consultation with Trades Union(s) and relevant 
employee representatives.  The process of selection must be conducted fairly, 
objectively and consistently across the organisation and supported by evidence.    

 
On applying the objective selection criteria, the manager should determine where the 
cut-off point is to be in relation to the score outcomes (pending any appeal).  For 
example, if there are ten roles to be retained, those with the top ten points will be 
offered a role and the remainder will remain in the redeployment pool and potentially 
be made redundant.  

  
The manager will, with advice from HR, undertake the application of the selection 
criteria.  This scoring will, in so far as is possible, be verified by a second manager.    

  
Once the selection criteria has been applied, the employee must be met with 
individually to consult and discuss the outcome as well as to submit any evidence 
that may impact on the score.  They should have sufficient information to help them 
understand how the marks have been awarded.  To help with this discussion, the 
employee’s individual score outcome should be evidenced.  The score sheet should 
show the employee where they fell in the overall ranking.  All the ranking data with 
the exception of the employee’s own data will be anonymised.  

  
The employee has a right to be accompanied at the meeting by either their trades 
union representative or a work colleague.    

  
It may be necessary to adjourn the meeting whilst consideration is given to any 
mitigation provided and reconvene at a later date to confirm the outcome (usually no 
more than 1 week from date of meeting)  

Page 13



A final outcome letter is then sent to each employee within the pool, denoting the 
score outcome, what this means to them (i.e. secured a role or not secured a role), if 
it results in them being provisionally chosen for redundancy and their severance 
payment estimate.  The letter should also inform the employee of their right of 
appeal.  

  
No employee should be taken out of the ‘at risk’ pool’ until all necessary consultation 
on the matter is complete and appeals have been heard.  

  
Once all queries and the appeals have been completed and the statutory 
consultation process has finished all employees who are now confirmed as 
redundant will be sent a redundancy notice letter.  The letter will contain confirmation 
that they are to be made redundant and the length of notice that they are entitled to 
(up to a maximum of 12 weeks).  It should also state the amount of severance 
payment they will receive (if eligible). 
 
Details of the impact of VR/VER 2019 Process 
 

Service departments have not reported any significant concerns over the 2019 
voluntary redundancy process to the Human Resources Department.  

 
 Future Mitigation Opportunities 
 

As part of the budget monitoring process and data cleansing exercise undertaken by 
HR. HR and Finance have reviewed vacancies across the Council. There are 
currently 56 detailed in the table below. These vacancies have been held by the 
Council in order to assist with the possibility of redeployment to mitigate compulsory 
redundancies. Where it has been deemed by the service area that the post is 
essential to be filled, an agency worker has been sourced to assist the department.  

 
Post Title Service Area Department Backfilled 

Agency 
In 
MTFP? 

FPN Admin Officer Education  Learning No  Yes 

LSA - SEN Behavioural 
Support 

Behavioural Support Learning No  Yes 

Behavioural Support 
Teacher 

Behavioural Support Learning No  Yes 

ALN Admin Psychological 
Services 

Learning No  Yes 

Youth Support Key Worker Families First Learning No  N/A 

Flying Start Administrator Flying Start Learning No  N/A 

Flying Start Education 
Psychologist 

Flying Start Learning Yes  N/A 

Senior Youth Worker Youth Service Learning No  No 

Youth Co-ordinator Youth Service  Learning No  No 

Day Service Worker x2 Day Centres (EMI) Social Services Yes  Yes 

Cwm Taf Carers 
Development Officer 

Carers Network Social Services No Yes 

Page 14



 
Community Occupational 
Therapist 

Personal Services 
(COT's) 

Social Services No Yes 

Social Worker Children Looked 
After  

Social Services Yes  Yes 

Social Worker Family & Fostering  Social Services No  Yes 

Contract Monitoring Officer Family & Fostering 
Team 

Social Services No  Yes 

Social Worker Transformation  Social Services No  N/A 

Assessment & Reviewing 
Officer 

Transformation  Social Services No  N/A 

Single Point of Access 
(SPA) Duty Officer 

Transformation   Social Services No  N/A 

Single Point of Access 
(SPA) Planner 

Transformation   Social Services No  N/A 

Social Worker Transformation   Social Services No  N/A 

Community Occupational 
Therapist 

Transformation   Social Services No  N/A 

Planner Transformation   Social Services No  N/A 

Clerical Assistant Transformation   Social Services No  N/A 

Initial Response (Direct 
Support Hours) 

Transformation   Social Services No  N/A 

Administration Officer 
Employability 
(CFW+) 

Community 
Regeneration No N/A 

Employment Mentor x2 Employability 
(CFW+) 

Community 
Regeneration 

No N/A 

Vocational Development 
Officer 

Employability 
(Bridges) 

Community 
Regeneration 

No N/A 

CCTV Operator CCTV Community 
Regeneration 

No  No 

Registrar receptionist Registrars Community 
Regeneration 

No  Yes 

Highways Operative Highways Neighbourhood 
Services 

No  Yes 

Financial Services 
Assistant 

Client Financial 
Management 
Services 

Neighbourhood 
Services 

No  No 

Benefits Assessor Benefits Neighbourhood 
Services 

No  Yes 

Sundry Debt Recovery 
Officer 

Revenues Neighbourhood 
Services 

No  Yes 

Lifeline Operator Lifeline Neighbourhood 
Services 

Yes  Yes 

Cleaner Office 
Accommodation 

Neighbourhood 
Services 

No  No 

Senior Quantity 
Surveyor/Project Manager 

Estates Neighbourhood 
Services 

No  Yes 

Statutory Compliance 
Inspector 

Estates Neighbourhood 
Services 

No  Yes 

Re-cycling Op/HGV x2 
Operative 

Recycling Neighbourhood 
Services 

Yes  Yes 

Recycling Collector x7 Recycling Neighbourhood 
Services 

Yes  Yes 

Performance Officer Performance Corporate 
Services 

No  Yes 

Cash Collector Parking Corporate 
Services 

No  Yes 

Business Systems Support 
Officer 

Performance Corporate 
Services 

No  Yes 

Page 15



Legal Assistant Legal Corporate 
Services 

No  No 

Assistant Procurement 
Officer 

Procurement Finance No  Yes 

Chief Officer Community 
Regen 

Corporate 
Management 

Corporate 
Authority 

No  Yes 

 
3.1.5 Agency Workers     
 

The Council is able to hire temporary staff through agencies. We have a number of 
providers that are used the main ones however being Pertemps and Network Health 
Care. This means the Council pay the agency for the workers and a number of 
factors are also important: 

 The Council must pay the agency the workers’ pay, including the employee’s 
National Insurance contributions (NICs) and Statutory Sick Pay (SSP) 

 It’s the agency’s responsibility to make sure workers get their rights under 
working time regulations 

 After 12 weeks’ continuous employment in the same role, agency workers get the 
same terms and conditions as permanent employees, including pay, working 
time, rest periods, night work, breaks and annual leave 

 The Council must provide the agency with information about the relevant terms 
and conditions in the authority so that the agency can ensure the worker gets 
equal treatment after 12 weeks in the same job 

 The Council must allow agency workers to use any shared facilities (for example 
a staff canteen or childcare) and give them information about job vacancies from 
the first day they work there 

 The Council is responsible for the agency workers health and safety. 

The Agency Contract for the Authority is currently out to tender therefore the 
benchmarking data for other authorities is unavailable. Several work-streams have 
been developed that form a part of the Change Programme for 2020/21. One of the 
work-streams is ‘Personnel’ which includes the objective to ‘Review and develop 
options to improve overtime and agency usage at Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council to provide better value for money in delivering outcomes for our citizens by 
April 2020’. However; agency usage has generally decreased from 2015/2016 to the 
present day. The table below identifies the number of agency workers that have 
been engaged each year. 

TOTAL HEADCOUNT 
 April May June July August September October November December January February March 

15/16 220 160 167 154 151 138 140 103 110 113 121 129 

16/17 135 133 132 132 111 112 104 102 102 91 102 125 

17/18 117 115 106 110 99 106 105 103 101 93 101 101 

18/19 106 109 121 120 117 116 113 102 91 103 103 115 

19/20 107 108 113 117 117 105 102 96 85 91   

 
Reducing agency spend doesn't always have to be about implementing big 
organisational change programmes, sometimes small actions and initiatives 
implemented locally can help to reduce costs considerably.  Initiatives took place in 
2018 to make a number of posts that were occupied by agency permanent in the 
departmental structure; this transferred the budget from the agency line into core 

Page 16



budget. Other areas are where sickness has been managed by the department 
agency usage has reduced. 
 
Currently there are 25 workers that have over 5 years plus service with the agency 
that have been placed in the Council for a considerable period of their service. The 
table below shows the post and the location of the posts where over 5 years 
placement has been accrued. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
4.1 There are a number of changes that could be made within the HR department to look 

at becoming more digitalised to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of 
processes within the department.  This would make the users, i.e. managers have 
more data and information available at their fingertips.  Having a system that can 
report on all the data relevant to your people, would help produce Dashboards to 
give managers all of this information in one view.  This can then allow them easy 
access to information of which they can work with to identify any issues and action 
them appropriately. 

4.2 By allowing an agile working option could result in more productive working 
practices.  Staff may be more productive during the working day to allow for more 
focused delivery on key results. 

4.3  To be adequate or above in all areas of work undertaken by the department.  

4.4  To provide managers with all data they require in order to manage their workforce 
effectively.  

4.5  To ensure that succession planning is fully-embedded into the Council.  

4.6  To ensure that performance management and an appraisal process ‘Focus on Your 
Performance’ is fully-embedded into the Council. 

Location (Setting) Job Title  
Length of 
Service 

Cyfarthfa Park Street Cleansing 10 years + 

Cyfarthfa  Grounds Maintenance 10 years + 

Health Park/ 

Tŷ Gwyn Support Worker x3 10 years + 

Llysfaen 
Respite/Fach Support Worker 10 years + 

Unit 20 Class 2 Driver 8 Years + 

Unit 20 Refuse Operative x12 8 Years + 

Cyfarthfa Park Street Cleansing 8 Years + 

Ty Bargoed Newydd Support Worker 7 years + 

Ty Gurnos Newydd Domestic 5 Years + 

Cyfarthfa Park Fitter 5 years + 

Cyfarthfa Park Toilet Attendant 5 years + 

Civic Centre Benefits Assessor 5 years + 

Page 17



4.7 To ensure that the Organisation Development Strategy and Workforce Plan is fully 
embedded into the Council. 

4.8 To implement and employee recognition scheme to the Council. 
 

5.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
5.1 Further work is recommended to work with IT to look at how agile working can 

benefit staff within Merthyr Council. 

5.2 Over the past 2 years long term sickness statistics have increased and managers do 
not feel that occupational health are engaged with the culture and the needs of 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. To regain control of absence rates and to be 
in a better position to manage employees on long-term sickness absence it is 
proposed to bring the service back in house. 

5.3 Develop a business case to look at becoming more digitalised to improve the 
efficiency and effectiveness of processes within the department and the Council. 

5.4 For departments that will require training once all the policies have gone to Council 
In March 2020 and later in the year, we will continue to offer training to both 
managers and staff on a face-to-face basis. 

5.5 Work is still required to update the work force development plan to ensure its 
relevant to support the Organisation during the rest of this financial year and beyond 
based on the Councils vision. 

 

6.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

6.1 The Human Resources department assists other service areas to meet their 
wellbeing objectives and respective plans and strategies. 

 

 
 
 
ELLIS COOPER 
INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY 
GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 

Page 18



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Best Start to Life  
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1  We have set Wellbeing Objectives for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, and how we 

intend to achieve these objectives is set out in our plan ‘Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in 
our Community’.  The focus of this report is on the wellbeing theme Best Start to Life. 

 
1.2 The Council is committed to ensuring excellent educational achievement by delivering key 

strategies that will focus robustly on improving standards and the quality of leadership. 
 
1.3 Using the most recent performance information, this report establishes the current position 

for the wellbeing objective: Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals. 

 
1.4 An annual review during 2018/19 highlighted the need to further refine and refresh the key 

outcomes.  This ensures that the outcomes clearly describe what the Best Start to Life 
objective seeks to achieve.  Therefore, for 2019/20 it was decided to refocus the outcomes 
to support a more integrated/collaborative approach being taken to meet these.  The key 
long-term outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 

  

   •  Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment 

•  Children have access to high quality pre-school and school 

•  Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people 

•  Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 

1.5 The report also includes information requested by Committee Members with a specific 
focus on attainment levels across the County Borough.  As part of this report, the 
Committee wish to receive information on different activities that are being delivered to 
support improvement in attainment levels (excluding targeting an improvement in 
attendance). 

 

Date Written 3rd February 2020 

Report Author Sue Walker 

Service Area Learning 

Committee Date 25th February 2020 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1  The content of this report to be discussed and performance information scrutinised.  
 

2.2  Scrutiny Committee Members offer any appropriate feedback to enable officers to consider 
when undertaking future service planning and delivery discussions. 

 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

Legislative Context 

3.1  The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that we must work to     

improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales by maximising 

our contribution to the seven Wellbeing Goals.   
 

3.2  We must do this in accordance with the sustainable development principle, which means that 
we act in a manner that seeks to ensure the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.  There are five ways 
of working that we need to do adopt in order to show that we have applied the sustainable 
development principle.  The five ways of working are: 

 

 Long Term  Prevention  Integrated 

 Collaboration  Involvement  

3.3 The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 specifies that we must seek to improve 
the wellbeing of people who need care and support, carers who need support and for 
transforming social services in Wales.  The focus of this Act is on what matters to the person 
and how they can use their own strengths and resources to do those things, which is 
determined by an assessment that involves the person and the professional(s). 

 
Strategic Context and Service Delivery  

 
The Council is committed to delivering excellent services.  It will do this by delivering its key 
strategies and through joint working with a range of partners.  The key strategies that focus 
on delivering excellent services in Education are: 

 

 DRAFT Raising Standards Raising Aspirations (RARS) Strategy 

 Early Years Strategy 

 Youth Services Strategy 

 Central South Consortium (CSC) Business Plan) 

 DRAFT Tackling Poverty Strategy 

 Active Merthyr Plan 
 

The Learning department works collaboratively with other departments within the Council. 
School improvement is delivered through a commissioning arrangement with the Central 
South Consortium (CSC).  Alongside this, to support the wider areas of Best Start, the 
department works with external partners from the Public Service Board (PSB). 

 
3.4 The Council’s contribution to achieving the seven wellbeing goals is outlined in our plan     

[Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community].  On the 4th April 2018, Full Council 

approved a revised version of the Plan, which reduced the number of wellbeing objectives 

from 9 to 4.  The updated objectives can be found in Appendix 1. 

Page 20

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3775/mtcbc-focus-on-the-future-april-2018.pdf


3.5  The Chief Officer for Education reports on the wellbeing theme Best Start to Life.  The 

purpose of this report is to coordinate the performance information for this wellbeing objective 

and offer insights in the change of working practice linked to the wellbeing objective: Children 

and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they need 

to be successful learners and confident individuals.   

4. WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1  At the end of 2017/18; the Council published its Annual Performance Report, which evaluated 

performance across all nine wellbeing objectives at the end of year one of the corporate 
wellbeing plan Focus on the Future. 
 

4.2 The Chief Officer for Education has the lead for Best Start to Life, which at that time had two wellbeing 
objectives; these were: 

 

BS1:  Children get the best start to life; and 

BS2:  Children and young people are equipped with the skills and attributes they need 
to be successful learners and confident individuals 

 
4.3  Our evaluation of performance in 2017 was Adequate because, although overall attainment 

at the average level in Foundation Phase and Key Stage 2 was good and adequate at Key 
Stage 3, performance at Key Stage 4 was unsatisfactory in nearly all key indicators and 
attendance remained an area for further improvement. 
 

4.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 Following a review of year 1 of Focus on the Future, the nine wellbeing objectives were 

reduced to four.  The re-focused themes and objective can be found in Appendix 1.   
 

5.2 The Learning department continues to host learning away days to collaboratively plan how 
key tasks and activities will be tackled.  This group is made up of officers across a number of 
service areas across the Council both within the Chief Officer’s directorate and includes 
officers from other services areas including the Leisure, Culture and Sports Development 
Manager.  This group also provides a platform for planning discussions, officer led 
constructive challenge around activities delivered, targets set whilst also opening the doorway 
to exploring new opportunities, joint working relationships and making more meaningful 
service connections.  The Learning department also continues to work collaboratively with 
CSC with the aim to improve attainment levels across the County Borough. 
 

5.3 The Best Start to Life Strategy on a Page (SOAP) contains performance data for the selected 
local performance indicators over time (where available) to offer an opportunity to identify 
trends.  The Best Start to Life SOAP is attached as Appendix 2. 

 
5.4 The summary of current performance at Foundation Phase, Key Stage 2 and 3 is attached 

as Appendix 3, and the summary of current performance at Key Stage 4 is included in 
Appendix 4 of the report. 

 
5.5  The Annual Performance Report (APR) 2018/19 was recently presented at Full Council; this 

provided an overview of the key corporate performance indicators.  The overall judgement 
allocated for Best Start for 2018/19 was Unsatisfactory.  This is because although overall 
attainment at Foundation Phase was good, attainment in Key Stages 2 and 3 was adequate 
and unsatisfactory in Key Stage 4. 

 
 

Page 21

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/4237/apr-2017-18-english.pdf


5.0 RESPONSE TO INFORMATION REQUEST OUTLINED BY THE COMMITTEE 
 
6.1 The Committee outlined in its Work Programme a requirement for officers to provide specific 

information on “attainment levels across the County Borough”. 
 

As part of this report, the Committee wish to receive information on different activities being 
delivered to support an improvement in attainment levels (excluding targeting an 
improvement in attendance). 

 
6.2 Raising standards of attainment is a priority for the Council.  Well-being is strongly linked to 

attainment.  Pupils with better health and well-being are more likely to be ready to learn and 
achieve better academically.   

 
The early years are fundamental to a child's potential for learning and their future life chances.   
We want all children to be equipped with the skills they need to reach their academic potential, 
and contribute as responsible citizens to their own development and that of the wider 
community. 
 
In schools, our priorities are to drive improvement in standards of literacy and numeracy, 
through improving the quality of teaching and leadership, and to reduce the impact of socio-
economic deprivation on educational attainment. 

 
6.3 Raising Standards Raising Aspirations (RARS): The Learning department in conjunction 

with the CSC are in the process of developing a strategy around Raising Standards Raising 
Aspirations. The strategy is currently in development stage and is subject to further 
consultation from a number of key stakeholders including:  

 
 Learning Department staff 

 Wider Council staff 

 Elected Members 

 All Head teachers 

 All Teaching staff 

 Parents 

 Schools Councils 

 Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum 

 Governing Bodies 

 The College 

 Local Employers 

 CSC 
 

The strategy sets out the key outcomes, activities and behaviours that the Council will pursue 
in support of our corporate priorities and a culture of continuous improvement.  In support of 
the Council’s, Corporate Wellbeing Plan (Focus on the Future 2017-2022), the Raising 
Aspirations Raising Standards Strategy (RARS) will directly influence and impact on one of 
the Council’s priorities of improving attainment. It aims to ensure that children and young 
people are well placed to move into adult life and employment or further/higher education. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council aims for effective learning and teaching throughout 
each young person’s school experience to enable them to maximise their potential. 

 
6.4 21st Century Schools: As part of our commitment to provide future generations of children 

and young people with the best start to life, we are working to promote attractive and 
stimulating learning environments based on low carbon, energy efficient and sustainable 
design principles through the delivery of our 21st Century Schools and capital investment 
programmes.  

Page 22



 Working collaboratively with stakeholders including Planning, Property Services and with 
Blaenau Gwent’s Architectural Services, our ambition is to provide the very best sustainable 
low maintenance and cost-effective learning environments. 

 
As part of the capital investment proposals, we aim to deliver colocation of early year’s 
education and childcare on school sites and to promoting the Welsh language by increasing 
the provision of school and childcare places through the medium of Welsh. 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 
 
7.1    It is the ambition of the local authority to be closer to or above the Welsh averages in all 

performance measures by 2022 and at or above the modelled outcomes in 2021. 
 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
8.1  Finalise and publish the RARS Strategy following the consultation process in accordance 

with the targeted completion date of September 2020.  
 

8.2 Ensure Flying Start providers continue to strive for excellent outcomes for all children.  This 
 will be achieved through clear action planning, training and support for all providers. 

 
8.3 Ensure schools focus on improving outcomes for all children in all age phases.  This will be 

 achieved through focussing on improving teaching and learning.  The Local Authority in 
partnership with the Central South Consortium has continued to provide effective 
monitoring, challenge, support and intervention for all schools across the borough, which is 
bespoke to the needs of the school. 
 

8.4 Continue to work with schools and Corporate Communications to promote the importance 
of attendance.  Develop closer links with Families First to ensure parents are supported to 
focus on good attendance at school. 

 
8.5 Continue to develop the School Support Service (incorporating Behaviour Support and 

Greenfield Outreach Service) in order to enhance the strategies used by schools to manage 
behaviour issues which could lead to exclusion. 

9.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES/WELLBEING GOALS 

 
9.1 The improvement activities identified in this report directly contribute to our wellbeing 

objective: 
 

 Best Start to Life: Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with 
the skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals. 

 

9.2 The planned next steps for the Corporate Wellbeing Plan (Focus on the Future 2017-2022) 
and Tackling Poverty will ensure that the activities of the Learning Department will more 
robustly impact on the wellbeing objective: 

 

 Working Life: People feel supported to develop skills required to meet the needs of 
businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure that establishes Merthyr Tydfil as an 
attractive destination. 
 

Living Well: People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where 
they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health. 

 

Page 23



9.3 With regards to the Council’s contribution to the national wellbeing goals; this has been 
captured via a series of case studies, which can be found in the Annual Performance Report 
2018-19 that was recently published in line with the statutory deadline. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER, LEARNING 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

  
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) 

Date 
Document Location 

   

   

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 

Page 24



Appendix 1 

 

 

Corporate Wellbeing Plan Focus on the Future:  

Confirmed themes and wellbeing objectives for 2018/19 
 

 

 

Theme Wellbeing Objective 

Best Start 

Children and young people have the best start to life 

and are equipped with the skills they need to be 

successful learners and confident individuals. 

Working Life 

People feel supported to develop the skills required to 

meet the needs of businesses, with a developing safe 

infrastructure making Merthyr Tydfil an attractive 

destination 

Environmental 

Wellbeing 

Communities protect, enhance and promote our 

environment and countryside 

Living Well 

People are empowered to live independently within 

their communities, where they are safe and enjoy good 

physical and mental health. 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Best Start to Life
Children and young people get the best start to life 

and are equipped with the skills they need to be 
successful learners and confident individuals

Children live in a nurturing 
and stimulating home 

environment 

Children have access 
to high quality pre-
school and school 

Improve the educational 
outcomes for all children 

and young people 

Children and young 
people have good 

health and wellbeing 

CHIEF OFFICER:  LEARNING
Contributions From:
Performance and Resource
Early Years and Youth
School  Improvement
Sports Development Team

OUTCOMES

* Changes to the qualification make it inappropriate to compare with past performance
** Targets are based on cohort size and are set annually 

How will Merthyr Tydfil CBC work?

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Target Achieved Target Achieved Target Achieved Target Achieved Target Target Target

% of Flying Start children taking up full or reduced offer of childcare N/A 100% N/A 94% 95% 97% 96% 98% 96% 95% 96%

Parents engaged who improve their confidence and skills as a parent  N/A N/A N/A 63% 75% 69% 80% 87% 81% 82% 83%

Families  through TAF support have their case closed with a positive outcome N/A N/A N/A 77% - 76% 60% 79% 64% 66% 68%

Families closed which do not re-engage for support or escalate to Social Services

within 6 months of closure
N/A N/A N/A n/a 50% 88% 50% 9% 54% 56% 58%

Eligible FS children, speech and language within normal limits on exit of pre-
school at  3

N/A N/A N/A 61% 65% 61% 66% 58% 66% 66% 66%

FS children achieving Outcome 1 in all 4 areas of the Foundation Phase Compact N/A N/A N/A 50% 52% 52% 53% 47% 53% 53% 53%

Pupils who achieve the expected level in the FPOI 92%
89.1%

(Rank – 5)
93%

88.1%

(Rank – 12)
92% 89.1%

Due to change in Welsh Government legislation, this data can no longer 
be published

Pupils achieve the expected level in Key Stage 2 (CSI) 90%
87.4%

(Rank – 10)
93%

90.2%

(Rank – 8)
93% 90.2%

Attendance of primary school pupils 95.5%
94.2%

(Rank – 22)
96%

94.3%

(Rank – 22)
96.5% 94.3% 96.5% 93.9% 96.5% 96.5%

Attendance of secondary school pupils 95%
93.4%

(Rank – 22)
96%

93%

(Rank – 19)
96.5% 93% 96.5% 91.8% 96.5% 96.5%

Secondary schools fixed term exclusions 5 days or fewer (Rate per 1,000 pupils) 40 20 130 18 54.8 16 60.4 14 12 10

Primary schools fixed term exclusions 5 days or fewer (Rate per 1.000 pupils) 5.5 14.8 10 22 8 21.9 6 4 2

Hooked on sport (data every 3 years) N/A N/A N/A
48% (2015)

(Rank – 13)
57%

46%
(Rank -15)

57%
46%

(Rank 15)

Pupils achieve the L1 threshold 98%
96.8%

(Rank – 10)
99%

95.4%

(Rank – 9)
99% 95%

Due to change in Welsh Government legislation, this data can no longer be 
published

Average capped 9 point score
326.8 317.9 320.7 313.4 328.26 335.31 349.5

eFSM Average capped 9 point score 309.5 282.6 283.4 295.9 285.02 287.46 291.13

Pupils achieve the L2 threshold inclusive  English or Welsh and mathematics 58%

53.9%
(Rank –

19)
62%

*42.4%
(Rank – 21)

62%
42%

(Rank -22)

Due to change in Welsh Government legislation, this data can no longer be 
publishedeFSM pupils achieve L2 threshold inclusive  English or Welsh and mathematics 35% 42.1% 39% 23.5% 45% 29.4%

Merthyr CLA pupils  L2 threshold inclusive  English or Welsh and mathematics 

N/A
7.69% 

(1 out 13)
N/A

9.1% 
(1 out 11)

29.4% 
(5 out 

17)
12.5%

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e  
 

 Appendix 3 
 

 

 

 

 
Title: Impact of work in the Central South Consortium’s business plan 

on the region and Merthyr Tydfil Local Authority 
 

Date Written: 19/8/19 
 

Authors: Andrew Williams (Acting Assistant Director), Emma Willmott 
Senior Challenge Adviser Central South Consortium 

 
  

Page 29



2 | P a g e  
 

Comparative Data 

 

The content of this report is different to previous years due to Welsh Government (WG) 

introducing significant changes to how performance measures are reported. Teacher 

Assessment can be used for information purposes only e.g. to develop school improvement 

policies etc., but not for school accountability purposes below national level.  All Wales Core 

Data Sets (Performance) will no longer be provided by WG for foundation phase, Key Stage 2 

and Key Stage 3.  There will be no change to the collection process and schools still have to 

report data to Welsh Government. Data will be shared with Local Authorities and Consortia 

who have systems in place to analyse data, but comparison with other LAs / Consortia will not 

be possible.  It is now inappropriate to publish school level data in a public report. 

 

In 2019, the performance of pupils achieving at least the expected level for Foundation Phase, 

Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 3 has fallen in all core subjects, which could reflect the changes to 

the purpose of assessment data where the focus has shifted back to individual learners and 

not for school accountability purposes. 

Performance in Merthyr Tydfil Council Schools  

Foundation Phase 
a. When compared against the national averages, the performance of Merthyr Tydfil 

schools has been adequate this year. Pupil outcomes in all core areas of learning, at 
both the expected and higher outcomes are below the national averages, with the 
exception of LCW at both the expected and higher outcomes.  

b. This year’s results in the FP reflect a decrease in the percentage of pupils achieving 

the expected outcomes across Wales.  The Wales average for the FPOI has reduced 

by 2.6% pts to 80.0%. The main reason for this is the implementation of new 

outcomes in the Foundation Phase Assessment Framework that have been used in 

language and mathematics.  Many teachers were under the impression that there 

were higher expectations to achieve an outcome and this is one factor that has led 

to fewer pupils achieving outcome 5. 

c. The decrease in the performance of boys in the LA has led to a significant increase in 

the gap in performance between boys and girls for FPOI.  

d. The gap in performance between eFSM and nFSM pupils has increased in the most 

recent year for the FPOI. This is due to the performance of eFSM pupils falling at a 

faster rate than nFSM pupils. 

 

Key Stage 2 

a. Performance across the main indicators at the expected level is good this year.  The 

percentage of pupils achieving the expected level is above the national average for 

the majority of core subjects. 

b. At the higher level, performance has fallen for three of the four measures, and are 

below national averages.  

 

Page 30



3 | P a g e  
 

c. The gap in performance between boys and girls has increased in the most recent 

years for nearly all performance measures at both the expected level and above 

expected level. 

d. The gap in performance between eFSM and nFSM pupils has decreased for the 

majority of performance measures at the expected level, however the gap has 

increased for nearly all measures at the above expected level. 

 

Key Stage 3 

a. Performance across the main indicators at the expected level in KS3 is good this 

year. Merthyr Tydfil performance for the CSI dropped this year but is now above the 

national average. 

b. The gap in performance between boys and girls has increased for the CSI in the most 

recent year. The gap in performance has narrowed for the majority of performance 

measures for the core subjects at the expected level and above expected levels (L6+ 

and L7+). 

c. The gap in performance between eFSM and nFSM pupils has increased for CSI in the 

most recent year. However, the gap has narrowed for most performance measures 

at KS3 at all levels of performance. 

d. English: Performance has decreased at both the expected level and expected level +1 

and remains below the National average. However, performance at the expected 

level +2 has increased but remains below the National average. 

e. Mathematics: Performance has decreased at the all levels (EL, EL+1 and EL+2) and 

remains above the Wales average at the expected level, but is below the Wales 

average for above expected levels. 

f. Science: Performance has decreased at both the expected level and expected level 

+2 but has increased at the expected level +1. The performance at the expected level 

is above the National average, whilst performance at both the above expected level 

is below the National average. 

 

Strengths 

 Performance at the expected level in KS2 and KS3 is good this year and is above the 

national average in the majority of key indicators.  

 In KS2, the performance of girls at the higher level in English and Mathematics has 

improved this year. Performance of eFSM pupils at the expected level in the CSI, 

Maths and Science has also improved this year.   

 In KS3, performance of girls in the CSI has shown a third year of improvement as has 

the performance of boys at the expected level in Maths. The performance of boys at 

level 6 in Science has also improved over the last three years. This recent year has 

seen an improvement in performance of eFSM pupils at level 6 in English and Science 

and an improvement in all three core subjects at level 7.  

 

  

Page 31



4 | P a g e  
 

Areas for Development 

 In the Foundation Phase, improve the performance of boys in the FPOI and at the 

higher outcomes in all three core subjects.  

 At KS2, improve the performance of boys and eFSM pupils at the higher level in all 

core subjects.  

 At KS3, improve the performance of boys and eFSM pupils in the CSI and improve 

performance of boys at level 6 in English. In addition, improve performance at level 7 

in all core subjects. 

 

Inspection profile 

The inspection profile is very good across for primary schools and adequate for secondary 

schools in Merthyr Tydfil. 

 

1.  Seven schools were inspected during 2018-2019.   

 Of the seven schools, two were asked to write excellent practice case studies.  

Two schools were judged as adequate and in need of improvement and placed in 

a follow up category (Estyn Review).  No schools in the LA schools were judged as 

having important weaknesses that outweigh the strengths and therefore placed 

in the statutory category of Significant Improvement.  Similarly, no school has 

been in Special Measures.  

 Of the schools inspected in previous years none remains in any Estyn follow up 

category.  

 

Page 32



1 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 
Title: Impact of work in the Central South Consortium’s business plan on the region 

and Merthyr Tydfil Local Authority 
 

Date Written: 5th December 2019 
 

Authors: Andrew Williams (Acting Assistant Director), Emma Willmott Senior 
Challenge Adviser Central South Consortium 

 

  

Appendix 4 

Page 33



2 | P a g e  
 

Key stage 4 (KS4): 

 

This report is based on the information contained in the Statistical First Release 

“Examination results in schools in Wales, 2018/19” which states the following: 

“In 2018/19, Central South Wales was the region with the highest average Capped 9 points 

score (interim measure version) with 362.2 points.” 

“The lowest scoring Local Authority was Merthyr Tydfil with 313.4 points.” 

 

a. Significant changes have been made to the Key Stage 4 performance measures 

between reporting in 2018 and 2019. 

 

b. New performance measures have been introduced that use average points scores 

for interim performance measures of Literacy, Numeracy, Science, Capped 9 Points 

Score and Welsh Baccalaureate Skills Challenge Certificate. 

 

c. Each GCSE grade is allocated a points score as follows: 

A* = 58, A = 52, B = 46, C = 40, D = 34, E = 28, F = 22, G = 16, U = 0 

 

d. Welsh Government also introduced the use of ‘first entry’ for any qualification for 

performance measures in 2019, which removes the ability to look at trends where 

performance measures appear the same between 2018 and 2019. 

 

e. Local authority performance for the interim performance measures at KS4 show that 

all indicators are nearly one whole grade below that seen nationally. 

 

f. Capped 9 Points Score (3+6) is just over 40 points below that seen nationally, which 

is three-quarters of a grade below the national average for each subject. 

 

g. The average Literacy points score for the LA is 4.3 points below the Wales average. 

 

h. The average Numeracy points score for the LAs is 4.7 points below the Wales 

average. 

 

i. The gap in performance of the average Science points score between LA and Wales is 

slightly smaller than that seen for Literacy and Numeracy but is still over 4 points (4.1 

points). 

 

j. LA performance for the Welsh Baccalaureate Skills Challenge Certificate (WB SCC) is 

nearly a whole grade (5.6 points) below the National figure. 

 

k. The performance of boys in the LA is much weaker than the performance of girls, 

when both groups are compared against the National averages. For each of the new 

Page 34



3 | P a g e  
 

interim measures, girls’ performance is around half a grade lower than seen 

nationally. However, boys’ performance in the LA around one whole grade for each 

measure, with the exception of WB SCC which is nearly 1.25 grades lower than seen 

nationally. 

 

l. The gap in performance between boys and girls is wider for the LA than seen 

nationally for all five interim performance measures. 

 

m. The performance of eFSM pupils in the LA is positive when compared to the 

performance of eFSM nationally, with the LA exceeding the National average for 

Science and Literacy average points. The performance seen in Capped 9 Points Score 

and Numeracy measures is within 2.4 points of the national averages for these 

measures, and Welsh Baccalaureate Skills Challenge Certificate being 3.1points 

below the national average. 

 

n. However, the performance of nFSM pupils is on average half a grade below that seen 

nationally for each of the five interim performance measures. 

 

o. The gap in performance between eFSM and nFSM is narrower for the LA than seen 

nationally for all five new performance measures. 

 

p. No comparisons are included in this section of the report for KS4 legacy measures, 

but the latest LA performance for these measures can be found in Annex A of this 

report. 

 

 

Strengths 

 In KS4, Fischer Family Trust (FFT) contextual value added (CVA) data illustrates that 
that many of the high schools perform well in relation to each of the interim 
performance measures with one high school performing exceptionally well.  

 The performance of eFSM pupils in the LA is positive when compared to the 

performance of eFSM nationally, with the LA exceeding the National average for 

Science and Literacy average points. 

 

 

Areas for Development 

 At KS4, improve the performance of all pupils, particularly that of boys, in all of the 

key indicators in the interim performance measures 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



4 | P a g e  
 

Challenge and support provided by the Consortium on behalf of the Merthyr Tydfil Borough 

Council 

1. In 2018-2019 Merthyr Tydfil Local Authority contributed £246,603 towards the core 

functions of the consortium.  In addition to the core costs of the consortium this has 

provided funding for 4.00 challenge advisers (1.5 FTE) plus support from 

Accelerated Progress Leads (0.17)FTE effective from September 2017) and senior 

Challenge Advisers (1FTE). 

 

2.  7 schools were inspected during 2018-2019 – 2 secondary and 5 primary schools 

Of the 7 schools, 1 secondary and 1 primary were asked to write excellent practice 

case studies. 1 secondary and 1 primary school were judged as adequate and in need 

of improvement and require Estyn Review. No schools were placed in the either of 

the statutory categories of Significant Improvement or Special Measures.  

 

3. Elected Members will be aware that we use a categorisation process to identify the 

schools in need of support using both data and judgement of leadership and capacity 

to improve.  During 2018-2019, the consortium continued to work closely on behalf 

of the Local Authority to monitor the progress of the schools in need.  Of the 28 

schools in Merthyr Tydfil, two schools required red level of support and four schools 

required amber level of support.  There were twelve schools requiring green support 

and ten requiring yellow support. 

 
4. Provisional categorisation outcomes for 2019-2020 identify that for many schools 

improvement has been sustained and continues across the authority within both the 

primary and secondary sector. In responding to the increased level of support needed 

by a few primary schools it has been necessary to categorise these schools as amber.   

The final categorisation outcomes will become public on the 31st January and 

therefore we will be presenting verbally on outcomes at the Scrutiny Committee on 

the 6th of January 2020.  

 

5. Challenge advisers continue to have a relevant educational background and level of 
experience and provide good quality support and challenge to schools. They have 
continued to work well and in partnership with the local authority to provide effective 
monitoring, challenge, support and intervention where needed. Challenge advisers 
have continued to commission bespoke support and intervention from the wider 
support teams within the Central South Consortium.  

 

6. Other support provided by the consortium to schools in Merthyr Tydfil has included:  

a. 14 schools, comprising of the primary and secondary sectors within Merthyr Tydfil 

have accessed professional development programmes provided by Hub schools 

across the region in 18-19.   

 

Page 36



5 | P a g e  
 

b. Merthyr Tydfil schools involved in providing support as part of the Hub programme 

in 2018-2019 were:  

 Professional Learning – Bishop Hedley High School 

 Mathematics – Cyfartha High School 

 Lead Practitioners – Cyfarthfa High School.  
The following schools were identified as Welsh Government Pioneer Schools: 

 Bishop Hedley High School 

c. Nearly all Merthyr Tydfil schools have been involved in SIG working, and during 

2018-2019 SIGs including  Merthyr Tydfil schools have focused on the new 

curriculum, Welsh Bacc, five A*/A, Foundation Phase, self-evaluation, literacy, 

numeracy, teaching and pedagogy, pupil voice, leadership, ICT and digital 

curriculum framework (DCF) assessment, science, wellbeing and closing the gap.  

SIGs are reviewed annually and have to provide an impact report against their 

priorities twice a year in order to be funded; 

d. Support for schools is prioritised following a strategic analysis of regional 

needs.  This is reviewed on a termly basis as information and priorities emerge. 

Schools receive intensive support for core subjects as agreed with the school’s 

challenge adviser and progress is fed back to school through a strategic evaluation 

for improvement statement and to the local authority director in the termly 

performance report.  Foundation subject qualifications are supported through 

Lead Practitioner networks, which provide opportunities for schools to 

collaborate on joint practice development and share effective strategies and 

resources.  Hub school programmes are aligned to support regional needs and the 

consortium brokers professional learning opportunities for schools requiring 

improvement across the regional professional learning offer.  Intensive school-to-

school support is facilitated through requests for additional capacity funding from 

Hub schools and lead practitioners to support targeted improvement activities in 

more vulnerable schools. 

 

 

 

 Additional support requested through the Local Authority Annex 

1.  In 2018-2019, additional funding was provided to support Merthyr Tydfil specific 

priorities via the Local Authority Annex. Funding of £7,916 was used to upskill staff 

to deliver person centred reviews across all schools plus Merthyr College and Early 

Years settings.  

 

 

 

 

Page 37



6 | P a g e  
 

Annex A: Headline results across the Merthyr Tydfil 2018-2019 

No performance measures for Foundation Phase, Key Stage 2 or Key Stage 3 will be included 

in this section due to the changes introduced by Welsh Government in relation to using this 

data for accountability purposes below a National level. An LA summary of performance was 

presented to members in September. 

Final 2019 Results 

New Interim Performance Measures 

 Merthyr Tydfil Central South 
Consortium 

Wales 

Capped 9 Points 
Score 

313.4 362.2 353.8 

Av Pts Literacy 34.7 39.6 39.0 

Av Pts Numeracy 32.4 37.3 37.1 

Av Pts Science 32.7 36.7 36.8 

Av Pts WB SCC 30.8 37.0 36.4 
 

Legacy Measures  

 Merthyr Tydfil Central South 
Consortium 

Wales 

Level 1 Threshold 89.0 93.2 92.8 

Level 2 Threshold inc 
EWM (*) 

41.1 55.0 53.8 

5A*-A 9.5 20.4 18.0 
(*) including Literature 

Please note that the legacy measures are not directly comparable to previous years, and therefore no 

historical information is provided in this report. 

 

New Interim Performance Measures compared with modelled performance (provision data) 

– Mainstream schools only 

 Points Score Modelled Score Difference 

Capped 9 Points Score 345.9 354.9 -9.0 

Av Pts Literacy 37.9 38.8 -0.9 

Av Pts Numeracy 35.5 36.7 -1.2 

Av Pts Science 36.8 36.0 0.7 

Av Pts WB SCC 34.7 36.3 -1.5 
 

 

Page 38



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Work Programme 2019/20  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached Work Programme and approves, revises or 
amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.7 in planning 
for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached work programme identifies the topics and issues under consideration 
by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional subjects to be 
identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 17th February 2020 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 25th February 2020 

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  
 
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination.  
 
The key outcomes for Working Life are:  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and 
better employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;  

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.  

 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.  
 
 The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:  
 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
The key outcomes for Living Well are: 
 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 
have transitioned well into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 40



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives and priorities? 

b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

department; 
 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 

 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue; 

d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 
investigation / review; 

e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 

Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 

Page 41



c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
Member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

Page 42



f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

g. Seeking the views of service users/carers and/or the general public (public 
calls for evidence). 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 4th April 2018  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 

 

APPENDIX I 

Page 44



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
  Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

21st May 2019 

Draft Committee Work 

Programme 2018/19 

 

Cllr Tanya Skinner (Chair) 

and Scrutiny Committee 

Members 

The Committee to discuss the draft Work Programme and to officially agree 

and sign off the Work Programme for 2019-2020. 

 

Tackling Poverty Strategy 
and Action Plan 

Sue Walker/Alyn 
Owen/Lisa Curtis-Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Following presentation of a report at the 
Governance Scrutiny meeting of 26th February 2019; Committee Members 
stated they required more details and wanted sight of the Tackling Poverty 
Strategy document  

2nd July 2019 

Draft Annual Governance 
Statement 
 

Gary Evans (Shared Audit 
Service) / Steve Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- To provide Committee Members the opportunity to 
review the  Draft Annual Governance Statement document and to 
constructively challenge its contents/findings prior to its’ presentation to 
Full Council. 

Corporate Wellbeing Plan: 
Living Well Theme 
 

Cllr Chris Davies / Lisa 
Curtis-Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  At the scrutiny meeting held on 10th July 2018, 
Committee Members requested the Living Well theme within the Corporate 
Plan be presented at Governance Scrutiny. 

3rd September 
2019 

Human Resources Cllr Andrew Barry / Fran 
Donnelly 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- WAO Report – Following on from the Improvement 
Assessment 2015-16: Review of the Council’s Human Resources Function a 
report is requested from colleagues in HR to review the status of the 
following:  
* Single points of dependency across the Authority and the risk this poses;  
* Corporate sickness absence statistics over the last 3 years with a specific    
   focus on stress-related sickness absence;  
* A quarterly report on agency staff employed by the Council, including  
   financial details/costs; and 
* The early impact of decisions taken linked to VR and VER. 

Audit Action Plan:  
Recommendations made 
by external regulators 
(WAO, CSSIW, ESTYN, WG 
Commissioners etc.).  
 

Shared Audit Service / 
Steve Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Following a report received at the Governance 
Scrutiny Meeting on 9th April 2019; Committee Members requested a 
subsequent report outlining the current position with regards to at Audit 
Action Plan function outlining responses to regulatory recommendations 
received by the Council. 

P
age 45

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s34392/Wales%20Audit%20Office%20Report.pdf
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s34392/Wales%20Audit%20Office%20Report.pdf


Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

  Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

15th October 
2019 

DRAFT Annual 
Performance Report 
 
 

Andrew Mogford Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Annual Performance Report is a statutory 
document which the Council MUST to publish to communicate its’ self-
evaluation of delivery against our wellbeing objectives.  The Committee is 
requested to review the draft report and ‘test’ the evaluative judgments 
made by Chief Officers through constructively critical challenge. 

Human Resources Cllr Andrew Barry / Fran 
Donnelly 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- WAO Report – Following on from the Improvement 
Assessment 2015-16: Review of the Council’s Human Resources Function a 
report is requested from colleagues in HR to review the status of the 
following:  
* Single points of dependency across the Authority and the risk this poses;  
* Corporate sickness absence statistics over the last 3 years with a specific    
   focus on stress-related sickness absence;  
* A quarterly report on agency staff employed by the Council, including  
   financial details/costs; and 
* The early impact of decisions taken linked to VR and VER. 

26th November 
2019 

Corporate Wellbeing Plan 
– Working Life Theme 
 
 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / Alyn 
Owen / Chris Long / Steve 
Peters 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - At the scrutiny meeting held on 9th April 2019, 
Committee Members requested the Working Life theme within the 
Corporate Plan be presented at Governance Scrutiny, with a specific focus 
on the following element: 
 

“Post-16 provision; how this links with Cwm Taf Public Services Board; and 
details of progress made on apprenticeships and partnership working”. 

Welsh Public Library 
Standards 

Chris Long / John Sellwood Scrutiny & Challenge: - Following approval given by the Governance 
Committee for the documents linked to the Welsh Public Library Returns in 
July 2019; feedback will be received from Library Service officers to provide 
Committee Members with feedback received from Welsh Government; and 
receive an update on the ranking applied to the service. 

P
age 46

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s34392/Wales%20Audit%20Office%20Report.pdf
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s34392/Wales%20Audit%20Office%20Report.pdf


Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

7th January 2020 
 
 
 
 
 

Change Programme  
 
 
 

Ellis Cooper / Andrew 
Mogford 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -   Scrutiny Members to review the ‘post-decision’ 
status of areas originally identified for financial savings and identified 
whether savings have been achieved, the impact of this service 
rationalisation etc. 

Human Resources Update Fran Donnelly Scrutiny & Challenge: -   Following an update received by the Committee in 
October 2019; Committee Members requested the officers return to the 
Committee to offer further updates on the current situation with particular 
reference being made to the following areas: 

 The capability process and how this works; details of the number of 
staff placed on the capability process; and details of any proposals 
to improve this process; 

 A breakdown of where SPODs have been identified and a 
breakdown of the departments where these SPODs occur; 

 Provide details of the impact of VR/VER 

 An update on the progress of work related to work-based stress and 
the Council’s response to this; 

 Accurate information provided to Committee Members on the 
compulsory redundancy process including information on key 
consideration and weightings; and 

 A breakdown of the current situation in relation to agency workers, 
including the number of agency workers that have worked with the 
Council for 10+ years; and an overview of which departments these 
people work. 

Preparation and 
Implications of Brexit 

Cllr Andrew Barry / Andrew 
Mogford / David Smith 

Scrutiny & Challenge:  With the United Kingdom scheduled to leave the 
European Union on 31st January 2020; local councils have been preparing for 
the possible repercussions of various forms of Brexit, ranging from potential 
difficulties with farming and delivering services to concerns about worsening 
community cohesion.  Officers will provide an overview of the Council’s 
preparedness for Brexit and how any risks identified will be managed.   

P
age 47



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

25th February 
2020 

Wellbeing Objective – Best 
Start to Life 
 
 

Sue Walker / Annabel Lloyd  Scrutiny & Challenge: -   At the scrutiny meeting held on 26th February 2019, 
Committee Members requested the Best Start theme within the Corporate 
Plan be presented at Governance Scrutiny, with a specific focus on 
attainment levels across the County Borough 
 

Human Resources Report  Fran Donnelly Scrutiny & Challenge: -  Following an update received by the Committee in 
October 2019; Committee Members requested the officers return to the 
Committee to offer further updates on the current situation with particular 
reference being made to the following areas: 

 The capability process and how this works; details of the number of 
staff placed on the capability process; and details of any proposals 
to improve this process; 

 A breakdown of where SPODs have been identified and a 
breakdown of the departments where these SPODs occur; 

 Provide details of the impact of VR/VER 

 An update on the progress of work related to work-based stress and 
the Council’s response to this; 

 Accurate information provided to Committee Members on the 
compulsory redundancy process including information on key 
consideration and weightings; and 

 A breakdown of the current situation in relation to agency workers, 
including the number of agency workers that have worked with the 
Council for 10+ years; and an overview of which departments these 
people work. 

21st April 2020 

Corporate Wellbeing Plan 
– Environmental 
Wellbeing 
 
 

Cllr David Hughes / Judith 
Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  At the scrutiny meeting held on 9th April 2019, 
Committee Members requested the Environmental Wellbeing theme within 
the Corporate Plan be presented at Governance Scrutiny, with a specific 
focus on the following element: 
 

“It has been almost 12 months since new measures were introduced.  
Members want to explore: 

  whether there has been any increase of incidents of fly-tipping.  

 Whether costs have increased?   

 Does policy require change? (e.g. black bin charge; waste transfer 
note charge etc.)”. 

P
age 48



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

  Statement of Wellbeing 
and Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan: Focus on the Future 

Andrew Mogford Scrutiny & Challenge: -  The Council is required to meet its statutory duty of 
refocusing and publishing its Statement of Wellbeing and Corporate 
Wellbeing Plan annually.  Committee Members are required to scrutinise 
both of these documents to review how well the Council is meeting its 
requirements against the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

Corporate Self-Evaluation 
2019-20 
 

Cllr Andrew Barry / Andrew 
Mogford 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -   Following the re-introduction of the Corporate Self-
Evaluation Process in May 2019; Committee Members will receive a report 
outlining the key findings of the process on a directorate/service area basis.  
Members will be advised on lessons learned during completion of the self-
evaluation process (e.g.) any areas of good practice or issues or barriers 
identified; and the key priorities for improvement which will be actioned 
over the coming 12 months.  Committee Members will be required to 
review the self-evaluative judgment and seek evidence to support the 
accuracy of this judgment. 

P
age 49



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Additional topics for consideration 

 

Dates as per work 
programme 

Cwm Taf Public Services 
Board: Our Cwm Taf 
Wellbeing Plan 

Over the past 12-month period, the PSB has been raised during the course of the Committee’s discussions 
on a number of occasions; it has been suggested that the Chair of the PSB be invited to attend Governance 
Scrutiny  

Local Authority 
Support to the 
Third Sector 
Services 

Cllr Tanya Skinner/Alyn 
Owen/Chris Long/Ryan 
Barry 

This item was originally received as a result of a WAO report. Subsequent to the item being discussed at 
the scrutiny meeting an email was sent to the Chief Executive and the Cabinet Portfolio Member. As a 
result of scrutiny’s involvement a report was submitted to the Governance Services Scrutiny Committee 
meeting on 13th February.  

The impact of 
Council Tax Debt 
Collection Process 
& Universal Credit 
on Tackling 
Poverty  

Andrew Mogford/Mike 
Parry 

 

Domestic Abuse 
and Sexual 
Violence 

Safer Merthyr Tydfil/ 
New Pathways  

Members requested a report outlining the impact of domestic abuse and sexual violence on local people.  
In relation to sexual violence, the Committee should outline the impact of sexual violence on communities 
(i.e.) STI’s; pregnancies; impact on mental health and offer basic detail on the support structure available 
for victims. 

P
age 50


	Agenda
	3 Human Resources Report
	4 Best Start to Life
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4

	5 Work Programme 2019-20
	Appendix 1


